

## CONFIRMATION OF ACCEPTANCE FOR STUDIES (CAS) ISSUANCE POLICY

January 2021



## Contents

Summary	
What is this document about?	4
Who is this for?	4
How does the University check this is followed?	4
Who can you contact if you have any queries about thisdocument?	4
Confirmation of Acceptance for Studies	5
1. Purpose	5
2. Staff Responsibilities	6
3. Applicant and Student Responsibilities	6
4. Eligibility for a CAS	7
5. CAS Processing Times	8
6. When a CAS Will Not Be Issued	8
7. Length of Sponsorship	10
8. Withdrawal of Sponsorship	10
9. Pre-Sessional Courses at University of Portsmouth	10
10. Courses with Work Placements	11
11. Subcontractual Partner (International College Portsmouth) and University Branches	s 11
12. Visa Refusal	12
13. Suspension, Referrals and Repeats and Writing UpDissertations	13
14. Writing Up, Vivas and Amendments	13
15. Doctorate Extension Scheme	14
16. Appealing a Decision Not to Issue a CAS/Withdrawal ofSponsorship	14



#### **Document title**

Confirmation of Acceptance for Studies (CAS) Issuance Policy

#### **Document author and department**

Academic Standards, Quality and Partnerships, Department of Student and Academic Administration

#### Approving body

Academic Council, via University Global Engagement Comm UGEC

#### **Date of approval**

27 January 2021 UGEC, received 23 March 2021 Academic Council

#### **Review date**

In line with biannual Home Office policy changes

#### Edition no.

2

#### ID Code

224

#### Date of effect

January 2021

EITHER For public access online (internet)? Tick as appropriate

For public access on request copy to be mailed Tick as appropriate

OR For staff access only (intranet)? Tick as appropriate

Password protected Tick as appropriate

External queries relating to the document to be referred in the first instance to the Academic Standards, Quality and Partnerships: email <a href="mailto:asgp@port.ac.uk">asgp@port.ac.uk</a>

# If you need this document in an alternative format, please email <u>corporate.communications@port.ac.uk</u>

The latest version of this document is always to be found at:

https://policies.docstore.port.ac.uk/policy-224.pdf

NO

YES

YES



## **Summary**

### What is this document about?

This document outlines the legal grounds in which the University will and will not issue a CAS, in line with current UKVI Student Route and University protocol. A Confirmation for Acceptance for Studies (CAS) is an electronic document that confirms to the UK Home Office that the University of Portsmouth wishes to sponsor an individual to study in the UK

#### Who is this for?

This Policy will be of most interest to our staff, applicants and students. It will also be of interest to UK Visas and Immigration (UKVI), the UK Quality Assurance Agency (QAA), Competition and Markets Authority (CMA), Office for Students (OfS) and may also be of some interest to the wider public.

#### How does the University check this is followed?

The Policy is checked intrinsically through the areas it details, through consideration at University Global Engagement Committee (UGEC) and through Academic Standards, Quality and Partnerships (ASQP), Department of Student and Academic Administration (DSAA)

# Who can you contact if you have any queries about this document?

If you have questions about this document please contact Academic Standards, Quality and Partnerships, Department of Student and Academic Administration <a href="mailto:asgp@port.ac.uk">asgp@port.ac.uk</a>



## Confirmation of Acceptance for Studies (CAS) Issuance Policy for Applicants and Current Students at the University of Portsmouth

#### 1. Purpose

- 1.1. The University of Portsmouth holds a UKVI Student Route licence: 926WMQQ73. The licence allows the University to sponsor overseas applicants or students to apply for Entry Clearance or permission to stay in the UK under the UK Government's Home Office Points-Based Immigration System. <sup>1</sup> Sponsorship is issued by the University in the form of a Confirmation for Acceptance of Studies (CAS), which the applicant or student uses to apply for a visa under the UKVI Student Route.
- 1.2. As a UKVI Student Route sponsor, the University of Portsmouth is allocated an annual CAS quota which cannot be exceeded. This is set and agreed by the Department of Student and Academic Administration, Academic Standards, Quality and Partnerships and the Pro-Vice Chancellor Global Engagement in line with the University's Global Engagement Strategy. The University must ensure that each CAS is assigned in accordance with the current UKVI Student Route requirements, as set out by the UK Visas and Immigration (UKVI) Government policy and regulations, as well as meeting the University of Portsmouth admissions requirements
- 1.3. This policy forms part of a suite of UKVI Student Route documents, to ensure that the University of Portsmouth is compliant with current legislation, and supports the safeguarding of the University's UKVI Student Route licence and delivers the best service to applicants and students. This policy should therefore be read alongside the University's UKVI Student Route Compliance Policy and UKVI Student Route English Language Policy for students applying to study in the UK with a UKVI Student Route visa.
- 1.4. This policy is for the use of University staff responsible for issuing CAS, for International Student Advisers who are responsible for advising UKVI Student Route applicants and students, and for UKVI Student Route applicants and current UKVI Student Route students at the University of Portsmouth.
- 1.5. All staff involved in issuing CAS or advising applicants and students on the UKVI Student

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> An applicant is a person applying to study at the University of Portsmouth. A student is a person already studying at the University



Route process must ensure that the policy is adhered to accordingly.

### 2. Staff Responsibilities

- 2.1. Responsibility for the management and implementation of this policy lies with the Department of Student and Academic Administration (DSAA), Academic Standards, Quality and Partnerships (ASQP), with the daily operations and delivery managed and undertaken by DSAA Student Life (for new applicants, visa extensions, and the Doctorate Extension Scheme (DES), and the University of Portsmouth Global (UoP Global) admissions team. Advice and guidance for applicants and students is provided by the International Student Advice Team in UoP Global.
- 2.2. CAS are prepared and issued in accordance with UKVI rules and guidance and in line with University protocol. Once the University has issued a CAS to an applicant or student, the University will monitor the student's journey in line with current UKVI Student Route regulations and the University's UKVI Student Route policy. If an applicant or student fails to comply with the UKVI Student Route regulations or University requirements, the University will be duty bound to take appropriate action in accordance with current UKVI Student Route legislation.
- 2.3. If an applicant or student fails to meet any conditions of the CAS issuance policy, the University of Portsmouth is not liable for any consequences of declining to issue a CAS.

### 3. Applicant and Student Responsibilities

- 3.1. The University will send a CAS to the applicant/student electronically via email. The University will not send a CAS to any other party without the student's consent. In all cases where a student has provided consent to send their CAS to another party, such as an agent, the University will ensure the student is copied in on the email.
- 3.2. It is the applicant's/student's responsibility to check all the information given in the CAS before a visa application is made. Any amendments should be emailed to CAScorrections@port.ac.uk and the University will aim to make the amendments within 2 working days.
- 3.3. Issuing a CAS does not guarantee that a visa application will be successful and it is the student's responsibility to check that all Home Office requirements are met. The University is not responsible for any decision made by the Home Office Visas and Immigration Government agency or the consequent losses (whether financial or otherwise) of an unsuccessful outcome.
- 3.4. Once a CAS has been issued it is the sponsored student's responsibility to maintain their immigration status while studying at the University and to inform the University of any changes to their immigration status.
- 3.5. In some circumstances a current student may require further time to complete their course of study. Students must seek advice on their visa extension process from the



International Student Advice Team at least 3 months before their visa is due to expire or as soon as they are aware that a visa extension maybe required. A CAS extension is requested via<u>www.registryhub.port.ac.uk/cas/</u>

3.6. It is the student's responsibility to ensure they have valid UKVI Student Route leave to complete their studies at the University, and to seek relevant advice and guidance from the University's International Student Advice Team.

#### 4. Eligibility for a CAS

- 4.1. The University will only issue a CAS to applicants who:
  - 4.1.1. have been offered and accepted a place without conditions to study a full-time course at Regulated Qualification Framework (RQF) Level 6 and above or for a part-time course at Regulated Qualification Framework (RQF) level 7 or above, except where clause 9 of this policy applies;
  - 4.1.2. meet the Home Office and University of Portsmouth English Language ability requirements and the University's additional internal English Language assessment, where applicable;
  - 4.1.3. meet the UKVI Student Route eligibility requirements, in line with current UKVI Student Route policy;
  - 4.1.4. have an Academic Technology Approval Scheme (ATAS) certificate, where applicable;
  - 4.1.5.have paid the international tuition fee deposit or provided proof of official financial sponsorship for course fees, in line with Home Office and University requirements;
  - 4.1.6. have passed the University's compliance check, in accordance with the Home Office's UKVI approach in managing associated risk with any overseas national entering the UK;
  - 4.1.7. provide evidence that they have left the country, if they are required to submit their application overseas;
  - 4.1.8. would like to replace their current immigration application in the UK, which was applied for within the time period of their current leave in the UK.
- 4.2. The University will only issue a CAS to students who:
  - 4.2.1. have valid UKVI Student Route leave in the UK or appropriate leave in an immigration category that can switch to UKVI Student Route in the UK;
  - 4.2.2. can show academic progression, or are exempt from this condition in line with current UKVI Student Route policy;
  - 4.2.3. will not exceed the study cap entitlement;
  - 4.2.4.are not a University debtor;
  - 4.2.5. have not exhausted the right to repeat the same period of study at the University;
  - 4.2.6.provide evidence that they have left the country, if they are required to submit their application overseas;
  - 4.2.7. which was applied for within the period of their current leave in the UK.



#### 5. CAS Processing Times

- 5.1. The University shall issue a CAS normally within 3 working days from the point the applicant or student has met all the conditions of their offer, as outlined in point 4 of this policy.
- 5.2. If an applicant is applying from their country of residence, it is essential that the application is made more than 15 working days before the latest start date for their course, in line with current Home Office's processing times <u>www.gov.uk/visa-processing-times</u>. A CAS will normally be issued later this if the applicant or student applies for the Priority or Super Priority Service, as appropriate, which assesses UKVI Student Route applications within five working days.
- 5.3. If a student is applying within the UK to further extend their UKVI Student Route leave at the University of Portsmouth, they will be eligible for a CAS as long as the start date of their course is no more than 28 days after their current visa expires.

#### 6. When a CAS Will Not Be Issued

- 6.1. The University reserves the right not to issue a CAS if in its opinion the circumstance of the student is such that in its opinion is likely to lead to a refusal of a visa by the UKVI.
- 6.2. For applicants/students who have received a conditional offer, the University will normally not issue a CAS under the following grounds:
  - 6.2.1. where the course the applicant/student intends to study will not comply with UKVI Route Student requirements (e.g. cannot complete the course as exceeds the study period cap, work placement constitutes more than 50% of the course duration, in line with the exemptions);
  - 6.2.2. if an applicant or student has exceeded or will exceed by the end of their course the amount of time they are allowed on a UKVI Student Route visa;
  - 6.2.3. where a course requires an ATAS certificate, unless they are an exempt nationality listed in <u>Appendix ATAS</u> of the Immigration Rules, and the applicant or student had not currently received one in time to commence their course or if the course details change, or the student's course end date is postponed for a period of more than three calendar months the student must apply for a new ATAS certificate within 28 days of being notified of the change in course, regardless of when their leave expires;
  - 6.2.4. where an applicant or student is studying on a course that is less than six months in duration, unless they are coming to study a pre-sessional English course and will then progress to a substantive degree course with the University of Portsmouth within a month of the pre-sessional course ending;
  - 6.2.5. if there are grounds to suspect that the applicant's/student's visa application will not be successful in line with current Home Office regulations;
  - 6.2.6. where the applicant/student fails to provide evidence to support the application for a CAS, at the request of the University;



- 6.2.7. if the applicant's/student's immigration history indicates that the applicant/student has exceeded the study period. If the student has compassionate and compelling grounds, this shall be referred to the UKVI Student Route Management Team for a final review;
- 6.2.8. if the applicant/student has not met academic progression requirements;
- 6.2.9. if an applicant/student has not declared their full UK immigration history;
- 6.2.10. if an applicant/student has submitted documents which are proven or suspected to be fraudulent;
- 6.2.11. if the University believes sponsoring a student will put its sponsor licence at risk or has concerns about the student's intention to study and authenticity;
- 6.2.12. if the latest start date of the course has already passed;
- 6.2.13. if the record of prior learning (RPL) credit exemption for an undergraduate course hinders the applicant from studying on a UKVI Student Route visa, as the study period for the first year is not full-time, and if the applicant is not expected to attend for a period of 60 days or more;
- 6.2.14. Where the applicant is liable to have their visa application refused to other factors for further information please see <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/general-grounds-for-refusal-modernised-guidance">www.gov.uk/government/collections/general-grounds-for-refusal-modernised-guidance</a>
- 6.3. For applicants/students applying in the UK, the University will not normally issue a CAS under the following additional grounds:
  - 6.3.1. where the student is applying for a new course at the same academic level as their existing course, and they are unable to justify why this represents academic progression;
  - 6.3.2. where the student has no valid leave in the UK (i.e. has exhausted their appeal rights, is an overstay in the UK);
  - 6.3.3. where the student has a pending immigration application or appeal;
  - 6.3.4.if a student is not expected to attend for a period of 60 days or more;
  - 6.3.5. where a student is applying for a visa extension, via the International Student Advisers, and regardless of nationality is unable to provide evidence showing sufficient funds to cover living costs and tuition fees, which meet Home Office requirements;
  - 6.3.6. where a student has exceeded or will exceed the amount of time permitted on a student visa by the end of their course;
  - 6.3.7. a student has outstanding tuition fees or accommodation fees in the current academic year/contractual agreement and does not have a payment schedule agreed with the University's Finance department;
  - 6.3.8. a student is suspended or expelled for breach of University rules and regulations.



## 7. Length of Sponsorship

- 7.1. The University will issue a CAS for the duration of a student's course. As set out in the <u>University's Approval Modification and Closure of Academic Provision policy</u>, The course end date given on the CAS is the date of which the student has completed all academic elements of the course, including teaching sessions, examinations, assessments and writing and submitting dissertations, projects or theses. The end date excludes any reassessment period.
- 7.2. The end date for PhD courses will be 4 years from the student's course start date. The issuance of a CAS for four years provides PhD students with the additional time to complete minor or major amendments, within a course that is due to be completed in three years in line with the University's <u>Regulations for Higher Degrees by Degrees</u>.

## 8. Withdrawal of Sponsorship

- 8.1. Where a CAS has already been issued and information is subsequently made available to the University that falls into any of the categories where a CAS would not be issued, the University reserves the right to withdraw the CAS at any time, without prior notice. However, the University will take all reasonable steps to inform the student in advance.
- 8.2. Upon withdrawal of sponsorship, the University is required to notify the Home Office within 10 working days and the applicant or student will not be able to study at the University. The applicant or student will be informed by email and advised to contact the University's International Student Advice Team.
- 8.3. The University reserves the right to withdraw a CAS, prior to a visa being issued if the course of study is cancelled or withdrawn, if the applicant's deposit has been unsuccessful, financial sponsorship has been withdrawn, if a University compliance check has not been undertaken, if the applicant is not going to arrive and register on time for the latest start date of the course and where intelligence provides any other grounds for considering that this student is not a genuine student.

## 9. Pre-Sessional Courses at University of Portsmouth

- 9.1. A CAS will be issued up to a week before the start of a pre-sessional course only if an applicant submits their UKVI Student Route application via UKVI Student Route Priority Service. The applicant must register within 2 days of the start of the course, unless there are exceptional circumstances, which will be assessed on a case by case basis by the University. Otherwise their UKVI Student Route visa shall be withdrawn by the University and their leave to remain shall be cancelled by the Home Office.
- 9.2. A student issued a single CAS for the pre-sessional course shall only be granted further leave to remain under the UKVI Student Route, sponsored by the University of Portsmouth, once they have passed the pre-sessional course, which will enable them to progress on to the substantive course of study.



9.3. If a student is issued a joint CAS to undertake the pre-sessional and main course of study and is unsuccessful in completing the pre-sessional course, their UKVI Student Route leave shall be withdrawn by the University. The student shall be advised to return to their home country. The Home Office will cancel their UKVI Student Route leave accordingly.

#### 10. Courses with Work Placements

- 10.1. If an applicant opts for a degree level course or above which incorporates a compulsory work placement, DSAA Student Life Admissions Team will issue a CAS to cover the entire period of the course, which includes the work placement period.
- 10.2. If an applicant opts for a course with an optional work placement, DSAA Student Life -Admissions Team will require the applicant to complete a work placement declaration, which outlines the applicant's intention to undertake a work placement as part of their course. Otherwise, a three year CAS shall be issued.
- 10.3. If a student requires a CAS extension to cover an optional work placement period, the student is required to apply for a CAS extension via <u>www.registryhub.port.ac.uk/cas/</u>either prior to undertaking the work placement or after the work placement is completed. Whatever period falls within the student's current UKVI Student Route leave. DSAA, Student Life, Student Administrative team shall issue the CAS, in line with UKVI Student Route eligibility requirements, directly to the International Student Advice team. This will ensure the student uses the CAS extension service to provide added value to the student and to minimise the risk of visa refusal.

## 11. Subcontractual Partner (International College Portsmouth) and University Branches

- 11.1. The University has a subcontractual agreement with a private provider Navitas UK Holdings Ltd, which owns and operates International College Portsmouth (ICP) Ltd. ICP is an embedded college of the University of Portsmouth. ICP offers integrated higher education courses, which students complete at the University of Portsmouth. ICP is formally registered as an additional location for the University under the Register of Sponsors (UKVI Student Route). An ICP applicant, who is recruited and admitted by ICP, is issued a CAS under a single University of Portsmouth UKVI Student Route sponsor licence. To support the safeguarding of the University's UKVI Student Route licence and best practice, ICP are responsible for ensuring their CAS issuance assessments fully integrate with this policy. Academic progression is assessed by DSAA Student Life and when required ICP shall refer complicated study cap calculations to DSAA.
- 11.2. The University shall normally issue a CAS directly to ICP within 2 working days from the point the applicant or student has met all the conditions of their offer.
- 11.3. ICP outline their CAS issuance processes in a standalone document. DSAA ASQP will take responsibility for ensuring coherence and consistency across policies and processes operated by the University and ICP.



11.4. The current UKVI Student Route of the sponsor licence covers the students studying at the University's campus in Portsmouth. In the event the University has branches in other parts of the UK where the University may have students undertaking a course of study who are subject to immigration control and require a UKVI Student Route sponsorship, the University will ensure that its branch campuses are registered as additional locations with the UKVI Register of Sponsors (UKVI Student Route).

#### 12. Visa Refusal

- 12.1. If a UKVI Student Route application has been refused by the Home Office the University is able to issue a second CAS for the same academic year, in line with the conditions set out below. It will not issue a further CAS if there is a second visa refusal in the same academic year.
  - 12.1.1. If a UKVI Student Route visa application is refused on finance grounds, the applicant will be required to provide evidence of finance, (regardless if they are a low risk national) prior to a further CAS being issued, regardless of the year of application to the University. The International Student Advisers will make an assessment of whether the applicant/student meets the finance requirements set out by the Home Office.
  - 12.1.2. If an applicant has previously been refused on grounds of credibility, the University will assess on a case by case basis whether the applicant can be issued a CAS. If the applicant is applying via a University of Portsmouth approved agent, it is more likely a further CAS will be issued, for the following academic year, unless it was refused with agent support in the first instance.
  - 12.1.3. If an applicant is applying via a University of Portsmouth approved agent, it is the agent's responsibility, as outlined in their contract, as well as the applicant's responsibility to ensure the applicant's UKVI Student Route application meets all UKVI Student Route requirements. Failure to do so will prevent a further CAS being issued for the same academic cycle.
  - 12.1.4. Where a visa applicant has been refused, the applicant/student may be able to ask for the Home Office to review the decision; this is known as an 'administrative review'. The student needs to inform DSAA Student Life if they are submitting this. Where an applicant or student has submitted an administrative review, the University will not issue a further CAS until the Home Office has confirmed the outcome of its review. If a student chooses not to apply for an administrative review or the visa refusal is upheld at administrative review, DSAA Student Life shall report the refusal on the Home Office Student Management System.
  - 12.1.5. Any student with a visa refusal will be reported to UKVI and UKVI Student Route sponsorship shall be withdrawn.
  - 12.1.6. Any applicant or student with a visa refusal must provide to the DSAA Student Life all pages of their Home Office refusal notice electronically.
  - 12.1.7. The University reserves the right to not issue a CAS to any applicant or student who has had their visa refused.



# 13. Suspension, Referrals and Repeats and Writing Up Dissertations

- 13.1. If a student wishes to return to their studies following a period of suspension the University will only sponsor the student if they meet the conditions of section 4 of this policy.
- 13.2. If a student on the UKVI Student Route is outside of the UK and is required to repeat an assessment that requires their attendance at the University, the University will not assign a CAS to a student if there is no further participation in study or intention to study after the assessment attempt. The student will be expected to obtain a Standard Visitor visa, which will allow them to enter the UK to repeat the assessment.
- 13.3. If a student is required to repeat credits, then a CAS will be assigned if the student's continued participation is required within 60 days of the start of the next academic period. For example, if a student is required to repeat 60 credits in the autumn term and undertake exams in May, a CAS would not be issued until December. The student would be required to leave the UK and return for their exams.
- 13.4. If a student is writing up their dissertation or thesis overseas, the student will no longer be sponsored. If the student requires to return to the UK to hand in their dissertation, the University will work with the student to identify appropriate electronic means of submitting the work in question, so they will not need to return to the UK. If the dissertation or thesis cannot be submitted electronically, (e.g. physical 3D artefact), the University will issue the student with a Standard Visitor visa supporting letter so they can submit their final piece of work in the UK.

### 14. Writing Up, Vivas and Amendments

- 14.1. In line with the University's <u>Regulations for Higher Degrees by Degrees</u> the University will only issue a CAS extension for a Postgraduate Research (PGR) student if they have a reexamination (in accordance with point 7.2), which is to be completed within 12 months, with no differentiation for full time and part time study. Pass with minor amendments (time limited to 3 months for both full time and part time students) and a pass with major amendments (time limited to 6 months for both full time and part time students) examination is a pass outcome. This means the thesis has met the learning outcomes for the award of a PhD. For a pass with major amendments the nature of amendments are more substantial than minor corrections and typographical errors, but are not of the extent that the learning outcomes have not been met, and the thesis would not require a significant rework. The resubmitted thesis would be considered and signed off as complete by the Internal and External Assessor.
- 14.2. Where the Examiners have recommended re-examination or referral either prior or post Viva, the student will be required to extend their studies for 12 calendar months in order to complete the course. If the 12 calendar month study period is greater than the student's current UKVI Student Route permission, DSAA Student Life will issue the student



with a UKVI Student Route visa extension to cover the re-examination period, calculated from the time of the re-examination outcome.

- 14.3. If a postgraduate research student is currently outside of the UK and is required to return to the University to attend their Viva, the University will not assign a CAS and will expect the student to obtain a Standard Visitor Visa.
- 14.4. If an undergraduate or postgraduate taught student is writing up their dissertation overseas the University will not issue a CAS for a visa extension and will report on the existing student's visa, if it is valid, as the student is not required to return to the UK to complete the work and can submit the dissertation remotely via Turnitin.
- 14.5. If a student is required to re-sit their dissertation and there is no requirement for them to be in the UK to complete, a CAS will not be issued for a student visa extension.

#### 15. Doctorate Extension Scheme

- 15.1. The University offers this scheme via DSAA under the UKVI Student Route sponsor licence. The scheme provides the opportunity for University of Portsmouth students to apply to remain in the UK for a further 12 months, to undertake work in the UK, prior to almost having completed their Doctorate level or other doctoral qualifications. The 12-month period can be for any areas of employment in the UK, including the time to find work.
- 15.2. If the student has the intention to apply for DES, they are required to seek advice and guidance from the International Student Adviser's in the first instance.
- 15.3. The University will only issue a CAS to a student who is expected to successfully complete the doctorate within 60 days, which includes minor amendments and re-examination.
- 15.4. DSAA Student Life will administer the CAS. The Home Office will issue the leave period from the course completion date, as stated on the CAS.

# 16. Appealing a Decision Not to Issue a CAS/Withdrawal of Sponsorship

16.1. An applicant or student shall have the right of appeal against the University's decision. No other person may appeal on the applicant or student's behalf, An appeal is lodged by the submission of a signed and dated statement from the student to the Academic Registrar and Director of DSAA, headed 'Statement of Appeal'. The Statement of Appeal should be submitted by email to asqp@port.ac.uk within ten working days of the date of issue of the decision not to issue a CAS, or to withdraw sponsorship.



- 16.2. The Statement of Appeal must be based on one or more of the following grounds: a) a material procedural irregularity which impacted significantly on the validity of the original decision-making process, including evidence that the University has not followed its own policy ; b) new evidence that could not reasonably have been made available as part of the original decision-making process. The Academic Registrar and Director of DSAA<sup>2</sup> shall consider the Appeal together with any materials or information considered as part of the original decision-making process, and can uphold, amend or rescind the original decision. The applicant or student shall be informed of the decision in writing as soon as possible, together with the reasons for the decision.
- 16.3. If the appeal is unsuccessful, the applicant or student will have completed the University's appeals procedures. Students of the University will be issued with a Completion of Procedures letter which will enable them to take their appeal to the Office of the Independent Adjudicator for Higher Education (OIA). Applicants are not entitled to take their appeal to the OIA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> References in this policy to the holders of any office shall be construed to refer either to the office holder or to their respective nominee